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Michael W. Essary, Receiver
8304 Clairemont Mesa Blvd. #207
San Diego, CA 92111
(858) 560-1178
(858) 560-6709 fax

RECEIVERSHIP RATES

Hourly rate - $250

Commission for Sales — Depending on type and value of property: 3% - 6% to be split
50/50 with selling agent. Should Calsur Property Management (my real estate company)
locate buyer, total commission to be reduced by 1%.

Management Fees — Depends on size/condition/location of property, will be quoted upon
request. Normal fees range between 4% and 8% of collected income.

For smaller rental properties (under 50 units) management and receiver fee can be quoted
as a fixed monthly fee if desired.

For business receiverships:
Field Employees (if used) — varies between $50 - $150 per hour depending on use.
Bookkeeping (if not included in management fee) - $75 per hour

Other consultants on a bid basis and approved by parties/court
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Gina M. Austin (SBN 246833)
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AUSTIN LEGAL GROUP, APC
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I, Gina M. Austin, declare:

1. I am attorney admitted to practice before this Court and all California courts and,
along with Tamara M. Leetham, represent defendant Ninus Malan (“Malan”) in this matter. |
make this declaration in support of Malan’s ex parte application to vacate order appointing
receiver. Unless otherwise stated, all facts testified to are within my personal knowledge and, if
called as a witness, I would and could competently testify to them.

2. I am an expert in cannabis licensing and entitlement at the state and local levels
and regularly speak on the topic across the nation.

3. I have represented Ninus Malan, San Diego United Holdings Group, Balboa Ave
Cooperative, and California Cannabis Group in multiple matters in San Diego County Superior
Court.

4, My firm also performs additional legal services for these defendants to include
corporate transactions and structuring, land use entitlements and regulations related to cannabis,
and state compliance related to cannabis.

5. On Tuesday July 17, 2018, I specially appeared in Judge Medel’s department in
response to an ex parte application by Salam Razuki to appoint a receiver and for a temporary
restraining order in the instant litigation. The purpose of my special appearance was to inform the
court that none of the defendants had been served, that our office had not been retained to
represent any of the defendants in this matter, and request that the court set the matter for a proper
noticed hearing after the defendants had been served. A true and correct copy of the transcript
from that hearing is attached as Exhibit A and incorporated by reference.

6. Judge Medel summarily granted the application and Plaintiff’s request to appoint
Mr. Essary as the receiver. There was no discussion of the proposed order or any response from
the court regarding the lack of notice, service, or harms that would create a need for immediate
relief.

7. Outside the courtroom I asked opposing counsel to send me a courtesy copy of the
order as soon as it was signed. I did not receive a courtesy copy of the order until late that
evening.

2
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8. At approximately noon on July 17, 2018, Heidi Rising, the manager of a separate
dispensary Golden State Greens and then contract operator of the Balboa dispensary, called me
and informed me that the prior operators of the Balboa dispensary were outside and harassing
customers and that the prior security guard was there brandishing a gun. Golden State Greens is a
separate client of Austin Legal Group. I instructed Ms. Rising to call the police and drove up to
the dispensary to meet with police when they arrived to explain the events that had happened in
court earlier that morning.

9. At approximately 2pm, upon reviewing a copy of the register of actions in this
case, I telephoned Mr. Essary to (i) request a copy of the order and the bond, (ii) discuss the
issues in the case, and (iii) determine the process for moving forward. Mr. Essary informed me
that he was going to immediately “take possession of all assets” including the dispensary and put
the prior operator back in control of the dispensary. I informed him that I could not allow him to
do that until the defendants had been served with an order. I specifically informed Mr. Essary
that neither my office nor any of the defendants had been served with the court’s order appointing
the receiver. Mr. Essary informed me that he had years of experience and taken control of
millions of dollars and would take possession of the dispensary immediately. In response to my
objections that none of the parties had been served with the order or bond, Mr. Essary stated that
he didn’t have to serve anyone as he had a court order appointing him the receiver and that was
enough.

10.  Around 3 pm on July 17, Heidi rising telephoned me because a man was
pounding on the dispensary’s door and demanding he be let in. Heidi did not feel safe leaving the
dispensary. The man with a gun was outside, and people working with him were sitting on her
car. I drove to the dispensary to pick her up and help her escape.

11.  When I arrived at the dispensary [ was speaking with Ms. Rising on the phone to
determine where to pick her up. She stated that the people outside were trying to break down the
front door and we agreed I would pick her and two other Golden State Greens employees up in
the back of the dispensary. When I arrived the people outside had just broken down the front

door of the dispensary and there were people running around the corner of the dispensary towards
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my car as if to attack us. Out of fear, as soon as Heidi and her two other associates were in my
car, [ drove away as fast as I could. We were chased by the man who had been at the dispensary
earlier in the day brandishing his gun.

12. Despite the fact that none of the defendants had been served with the court’s order,
on July 19, 2018 I emailed Mr. Essary and informed him of the issues I believed to need
immediate attention. A true and correct copy of this email is attached as Exhibit I to the
Declaration of Tamara M. Leetham. In a response email on July 19, 2018, Mr. Essary
acknowledged receipt of my email and stated that he had retained an attorney Mr. Griswold.

13. I am informed and believe that either Mr. Essary or Mr. Griswold or both have
taken possession of the Balboa dispensary and have placed the prior operator SoCal Building
Ventures as operator.

14.  Allowing Mr. Essary to control the dispensary is a violation of State law. The
Bureau of Cannabis Control (“BCC”) requires all owners to submit detailed information to the

BCC as part of the licensing process. An owner is defined as:

(1) A person with an aggregate ownership interest of 20 percent
or more in the person applying for a license or a licensee,
unless the interest is solely a security, lien, or encumbrance.

(2) The chief executive officer of a nonprofit or other entity.

(3) A member of the board of directors of a nonprofit.

(4) An individual who will be participating in the direction,
control, or management of the person applying for a license
[emphasis added].

Cal. Bus. Prof Code § 26001(al).

15.  Based upon the definition of an Owner, Mr. Essary would be deemed by the BCC
to be an owner and would have to submit all the requisite information required by Title 16
Chapter 42 of the California Code of Regulations before he would be allowed to legally take
possession and control of the Balboa dispensary.

16. Based upon the definition of Owner, SoCal Building Ventures would also be
deemed an owner. I am informed and believe that its re-appointment as operator of the Balboa
dispensary is also a violation of state law as none of the CCR Title 16 information has been
submitted to the BCC.

4
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17.  Allowing Mr. Essary to control the dispensary is also a violation of the San Diego
Municipal Code (“SDMC”). The SDMC requires all responsible persons to have a background
checks and a valid Marijuana Outlet Operating Permit. (SDMC Article 2, Division 15.) A true
and correct copy of SDMC Article 2, Division 15 is attached hereto as Exhibit B.

18.  The SDMC defines Responsible Person as “a person who a Director determines is
responsible for causing or maintaining a public nuisance or a violation of the Municipal Code or
applicable state codes. The term Responsible Person includes but is not limited to a property
owner, tenant, person with a Legal Interest in real property or person in possession of real
property.” (SDMC §11.0210). The term also includes “a permittee and each person upon whom a
duty, requirement or obligation is imposed by this Article, or who is otherwise responsible for the
operation, management, direction, or policy of a police-regulated business. It also includes an
employee who is in apparent charge of the premises.” (SDMC 33.0201.)

19.  Mr. Essary and SoCal Building Ventures are responsible persons and are in
violation of the SDMC for failure to obtain the requisite background checks and permits.

20. I am informed and believe that SoCal Building Ventures has caused the Balboa
dispensary to be in violation of the SDMC and the City of San Diego has issued various notices
of violation that if left uncured will threaten the ability of Balboa to maintain its Conditional Use
Permit to operate. A true and correct copy of the current code enforcement action pending against
the Balboa dispensary is attached hereto as Exhibit C.

21. I am informed and believe that upon the appointment of Mr. Essary as the receiver,
the Balboa dispensary has engaged in additional violations of the SDMC by failing to provide two
security guards during operating hours and one security guard during non-operating hours.

22. The Balboa dispensary is currently in the process of a compliance and tax audit by
the City of San Diego. The City has demanded responses by Friday August 3™. Failure to
provide these responses included financial data from the databases that are in the exclusive
control of Mr. Essary and/or SoCal Building Ventures could cause irreparable harm and a loss of
the Balboa dispensary’s right to operate.

23.  There are two hearings scheduled before the Hearing Officer for the City of San

5
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Diego for land use entitlements for the properties located at 8859 Balboa (“8859 CUP”’) and 9212
Mira Este (“9212 CUP”). These hearings are of critical importance to the future rights and
privileges of those two properties. Approval by the Hearing Officer at each of these hearings
requires specific knowledge and skills of the City of San Diego licensing process and historical
facts that neither Mr. Essary or SoCal Building Ventures has.

24, The 8859 CUP is scheduled for a public hearing on August 15, 2018. Ninus
Malan and the various entities that he is a member of will be irreparably harmed if this hearing is
delayed or if they are not adequately represented. The City of San Diego is only issuing 40
permits. If the 8859 CUP is not heard by the Hearing Office on August 15, 2018, it is possible
that the 8859 CUP would be unable to be approved in the future.

25.  The 9212 CUP is scheduled for a public hearing in early September. Ninus Malan
and the various entities that he is a member of will be irreparably harmed if this hearing is
delayed or they are not adequately represented. Due to the permit number limitations, if the 9212
CUP is not heard by the Hearing Office in early September, it is possible that the 9212 CUP
would be unable to be approved in the future as there are more than 60 applications for only 40
permits.

26.  Our office has been responsible for processing the state applications related to
cannabis operations at both the Balboa dispensary and 9212 Mira Este. Processing of these
applications requires specific knowledge and skill of the state licensing requirements as well as
the current state cannabis rules and regulations. An immediate response is required by the BCC
from the Balboa dispensary and the Mira Este operations. It is my opinion that neither Mr.
Griswold nor Mr. Essary have the knowledge and skills relevant to state cannabis law to
effectively process these applications. Failure to immediately respond to the BCC and California
Department of Public Health will likely jeopardize the permits and the ability to legally operate at
these locations.

1/
1/
1/
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I declare under penalty of perjury under California state law that the foregoing is true and

correct. Executed in San Diego, California, on July 30, 2018.

Gina M. Austin
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Steven W. Blake, Esq., SBN 235502
Andrew W. Hall, Esq., SBN 257547
Daniel Watts, Esq. SBN 277861
GALUPPO & BLAKE )

A Professional Law Corporation
2792 Gateway Road, Suite 102
Carlsbad, California 92009

Phone: (760)431-4575

Fax: 760) 431-4579

Attorneys for Defendant Ninus Malan

SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO

CENTRAL DIVISION

SALAM RAZUKI, an individual,
Plaintiff,

VS.

NINUS MALAN, an individual; MONARCH
MANAGEMENT CONSULTING, INC., a
California corporation; SAN DIEGO UNITED
HOLDING GROUP, LLC, a California limited
liability company; MIRA ESTE
PROPERTIES, LLC, a California limited
liability company; ROSELLE PROPERTIES,
LLC, a California limited liability company;
and DOES 1-100, inclusive,

Defendants.

Case No.: 37-2018-00034229-CU-BC-CTL

Assigned: Hon. Judge Strauss
Dept.: C-75

Declaration of Ninus Malan ISO Ex Parte
Application to Vacate Receivership Order;

Date: Tuesday, July 31, 2018
Time: 9:00 a.m.

Judge: Hon. Judge Strauss
Dept.: C-75
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I, Ninus Malan, declare the following:

1. I am over the age of 18 years and | am a defendant in this action

2. I have personal knowledge of the facts stated in this declaration, and if called
upon to testify to these facts, I could and would do so competently. I am the custodian of records
for each of the companies for which [ am an owner or manager, as described in this declaration,
and I have the authority to state facts on their behalf.

Ownership and Management of Companies

3. I am the president of California Cannabis Group, a nonprofit mutual benefit
corporation. Plaintiff Salam Razuki is not and never has been an officer, employee, shareholder,
member, or owner of California Cannabis Group.

4. I am the president and Chris Hakim is the vice president of Devilish Delights,
Inc., a nonprofit mutual benefit corporation Plaintiff Salam Razuki is not and never has been an
officer, employee, shareholder, member, or owner of Devilish Delights, Inc.

5. Balboa Ave Cooperative is a nonprofit mutual benefit corporation. I am the sole
managing member of Balboa Ave Cooperative. A true and correct copy of the articles of
incorporation of Balboa Ave Cooperative is attached to this declaration as Exhibit A. Plaintiff
Salam Razuki is not and never has been an officer, employee, shareholder, member, or owner of
Balboa Ave Cooperative.

6. Mira Este Properties, LLC is a limited liability company owned in equal parts by
me and Hakim. Plaintiff Salam Razuki is not and never has been an officer, employee,
shareholder, member, or owner of Mira Este Properties, LLC.

7. Monarch Management Consulting, Inc. is a corporation owned in equal parts by
me and Hakim. Plaintiff Salam Razuki is not and never has been an officer, employee,

shareholder, member, or owner of Monarch Management Consulting, Inc.
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8. Flip Management, LLC is a limited liability company owned entirely by me.
Plaintiff Salam Razuki is not and never has been an officer, employee, shareholder, member, or
owner of Flip Management, LLC.

9. I am the sole member and sole owner of San Diego United Holdings Group, LLC
(“San Diego United”), a limited liability company. Neither Razuki Investments, LLC nor
Plaintiff Salam Razuki have any ownership interest whatsoever in San Diego United. A true and
correct copy of San Diego United’s articles of organization are attached to this declaration as
Exhibit N, and a true and correct copy of its operating agreement is attached as Exhibit O. Both
confirm I am the sole owner.

10.  Razuki Investments, LLC used to own real property located at 8863 Balboa Ave.
and 8861 Balboa Ave. in San Diego (“Balboa Properties”), but San Diego United bought the
Balboa Properties in March 2017. A true and correct copy of the deed dated March 2, 2017 and
recorded March 20, 2017 showing this purchase is attached to this agreement as Exhibit B.
Exhibit B-1 is a true and correct copy of another deed, showing San Diego United’s purchase of
two other contingent parcels in 2017. Today, neither Razuki or Razuki Investments, LLC has
any property interests in the Balboa Properties.

11.  Roselle Properties, LLC is a limited liability company owned in equal parts by
me and Hakim. Plaintiff Salam Razuki is not and never has been an officer, employee,
shareholder, member, or owner of Roselle Properties, LLC.

12. I have known Plaintiff Salam Razuki for over a decade. We have worked together
in several business ventures. Although we signed an agreement in November 2017, which
Razuki attached to his declaration in this lawsuit, we mutually agreed to rescind that agreement
in early 2018 because Razuki was incapable of complying with its material terms. For example,
the agreement says Razuki has to transfer his ownership interests in Sunrise Properties, LLC and

another company into RM property Holdings, LLC within 30 days of executing the agreement,
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but Razuki was unable to do that. I learned later that he cannot prove he actually owns any part
of Sunrise Properties, LLC, so even if we had not mutually rescinded the agreement, I would
have rescinded it myself because of Razuki’s fraudulent representation that he owns a company
that he does not actually own. Razuki never mentioned the agreement until he filed this lawsuit
in July 2018. I am informed and believe that Razuki decided to file this lawsuit because of a
large judgment a litigant obtained against him in another lawsuit, which is causing Razuki some
cash flow problems. He is apparently trying to resurrect the canceled/rescinded contract to try to
steal three businesses and real properties from me, which I refer to in this declaration as the
Balboa Dispensary, Roselle Facility, and Mira Este Facility.

13. I know from speaking with Razuki and from public records obtained from the
Superior Court of San Diego County that a court judgment restricts Razuki’s ability to operate a
marijuana dispensary. The City of San Diego sued Razuki in 2015 for operating an illegal
marijuana dispensary without a license or permits, and Razuki stipulated to a judgment entered
January 6, 2015, and a true and correct copy of it is attached to this declaration as Exhibit P.
Paragraph 10 of the judgment says Razuki is “enjoined and restrained...from engaging in or
performing, directly or indirectly, any of the following acts: Keeping, maintaining, or allowing
the operation of any unpermitted use...at any other property or premises in the City of San
Diego, including but not limited to, a marijuana dispensary....”

Non-Existent Company Listed in Receivership Order

14.  The receivership order issued by this court on July 17" appointed Michael W.
Essary the receiver over “San Diego United Property Holdings, LLC.” I have no idea what that
company is. That company either does not exist, or if it does exist, it has no relationship to any

of the other businesses or people in this dispute.
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Roselle Facility

15. Roselle Properties, LLC, which is owned by me and Hakim, owns real property
located at 10685 Roselle Street, San Diego, CA 92121 (“Roselle Facility”) in fee simple. There
is no marijuana dispensary located at the Roselle Facility. A true and correct copy of the grant
deed showing Roselle Properties, LLC — not Razuki — owns the Roselle Facility is attached to
this declaration as Exhibit R.

Mira Este Facility

16. Mira Este Properties, LLC owns the real property at 9212 Mira Este Court, San
Diego, CA 92126 (“Mira Este Facility”) in fee simple. There is a marijuana manufacturing
facility at the Mira Este Facility, whose license to operate is held by California Cannabis
Group. Razuki does not own any part of Mira Este Properties, LLC or the Mira Este Facility.

Balboa Dispensary Opening

17.  There is a marijuana dispensary operating at 8863 Balboa Ave., San Diego, CA
(“Balboa Dispensary”). It operates under a conditional use permit issued in 2015 by the City of
San Diego Planning Commission. The permit was recorded as a covenant running with the land.
A true and correct copy of the conditional use permit is attached as Exhibit D to this
declaration.

18.  The Balboa Properties were sold to Razuki Investments, LLC in October 2016. At
the time, the Balboa Dispensary had not yet opened, and the city had not issued a certificate of
occupancy.

19.  From 2016 to March 2017, Razuki Investments, LLC did nothing to improve the
Balboa Properties or open the Balboa Dispensary.

20.  Balboa Ave Cooperative bought the Balboa Dispensary, including the real

property at 8863 Balboa Ave. and 8861 Balboa Ave, from Razuki Investments, LLC on March
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10, 2017 and took possession on March 20, 2017. A true and correct copy of the bill of sale,
signed by me (as President and Secretary of Balboa Ave Cooperative) and Plaintiff Salam
Razuki (as the member of seller Razuki Investments, LLC), and escrow closing documents is
attached to this declaration as Exhibit C. Razuki’s signature on the bill of sale is notarized. The
transaction was handled by an escrow company, and closed on schedule.

21. After close of escrow in March 2017, Razuki Investments, LLC — and, by
extension, its owner, Salam Razuki — owned no part of anything at the Balboa Properties or the
Balboa Dispensary.

22.  lopened the Balboa Dispensary in May 2017.

23.  Since March 2017, San Diego United — a company wholly owned by me — has
paid all expenses related to the Balboa Properties, including property taxes, HOA fees and
assessments, the mortgage, and expenses related to the conditional use permit. Plaintiff Razuki
has paid absolutely none of these expenses.

Balboa Dispensary’s Conflict with HOA

24.  However, the Montgomery Field Business Condominiums Association (HOA),
which governs the Balboa Properties, bans marijuana dispensaries. The HOA sued San Diego
United and me, among others, in 2017, alleging the sale of marijuana at the Balboa Properties.
We eventually settled the dispute. A true and correct copy of the settlement agreement with the
HOA is attached to this declaration as Exhibit E.

(1) I personally paid $142,572 in damages and attorney fees to the HOA to settle the
lawsuit.

(2) Under the settlement, the HOA granted a use variance allowing the Balboa
Dispensary to continue operating despite the HOA policy banning marijuana

activities.
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(3) The settlement is contingent on the Balboa Dispensary regularly paying fees to
the HOA, hiring security guards, maintaining its conditional use permit from the
City of San Diego, and doing other acts.

(4) Section 2.2 of the settlement says the HOA will revoke the variance “upon sale or
transfer of” San Diego United or the Balboa Dispensary. At the time the
settlement was signed, I owned and controlled 100 percent of San Diego United,
and I had ultimate authority over the Balboa Ave Cooperative’s dispensary.

(5) If the Balboa Dispensary does not strictly comply with the settlement, the
settlement authorizes the HOA to revoke the use variance.

Dispensary Mismanagement by SoCal Building Ventures, LLC

25.  Balboa Ave Cooperative hired Flip Management, LLC in March or April 2017 to
manage the Balboa Dispensary. Flip Management, LLC managed the Balboa Dispensary
competently and professionally. They paid the fees owed to the HOA and the city, provided
professional accounting and payroll services, and kept the business running smoothly.

26.  InJanuary 2018, Balboa Ave Cooperative and San Diego United hired SoCal
Building Ventures, LLC (“SoCal”) to manage the Balboa Dispensary. California Cannabis
Group, Devilish Delights, Inc., and Mira Este Properties, LLC hired SoCal to manage another
marijuana manufacturing facility at 9212 Mira Este Court, San Diego, CA 92126 (“Mira Este
Facility”). Roselle Properties, LLC hired SoCal to manage its real property located at 10685
Roselle Street, San Diego, CA 92121 (“Roselle Facility”). A true and correct copy of the
management agreement for the Balboa Dispensary is attached as Exhibit H, for the Mira Este
Facility as Exhibit I, and the Roselle Facility as Exhibit J.

27.  SoCal managed the properties poorly. Over time, I discovered:

(1) Their employees never underwent a criminal background check as they had

promised.
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(2) Their employees stole marijuana from the dispensary.

(3) Their employees smoked marijuana on the dispensary’s premises, which is
illegal, a violation of the conditional use permit, and a violation of the settlement
with the HOA.

(4) They “lost” a lot of inventory — i.e. marijuana. According to state regulations, if
there’s greater than a 5% discrepancy in a dispensary’s inventory, that’s grounds
for revoking the dispensary’s ability to operate. SoCal’s inventory counts had
discrepancies of up to 50%. This jeopardizes the dispensary’s license to operate.

(5) They did not pay their employees correctly. They did not maintain formal records
of employee work hours; they used Post-It Notes. According to those Post-It
Notes, several employees were working more than eight hours in a day, entitling
them to overtime pay, but there are no records showing they were paid overtime,
or that SoCal complied with other Labor Code provisions, including withholding
requirements and providing pay period statements.

(6) They never made insurance payments on time to the HOA, violating the
settlement agreement with the HOA.. This breach of the settlement agreement
jeopardizes the variance from the HOA, which can be revoked if insurance
payments are not timely made.

(7) They violated the San Diego City Code by not having security guards as required
by law, at times having only one security guard on duty, using security guards as
receptionists when they’re only supposed to secure the facility, using the
building’s garage at 8861 Balboa Ave. to store marijuana instead of using it for
its sole legal purpose (namely, storing cars), and lacking an armed guard. The
City of San Diego issued a notice on June 7, 2018, describing the code violations,

a true and correct copy of which is attached as Exhibit Q. These violations put
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the HOA variance at risk because the HOA can revoke the variance if the
dispensary violates the Municipal Code, and it jeopardizes the dispensary’s
license because the State of California will not allow a marijuana dispensary to
operate in violation of local ordinances. The code violation could destroy the
entire business.

(8) They hired a security guard named Jorge Emilio Aguilar, who owns a company
called Archstone International. There is a criminal case pending against Aguilar
(Case M238783 in San Diego Superior Court), and the court has issued a warrant
for Aguilar’s arrest. His license to carry a firearm expired June 30, 2017. His
license to act as a private security officer was canceled on July 31, 2017. By
employing a wanted criminal whose license to carry a firearm has been revoked,
SoCal has violated the terms of the conditional use permit and the HOA
settlement. Both the settlement and the conditional use permit require licensed,
bonded, professional security guards to protect the dispensaries, and those guards
must be capable of legally carrying a weapon. Aguilar is not such a person.
Attached as Exhibit F to this declaration is a true and correct copy of the

13

Superior Court’s “case detail” page for Aguilar’s criminal charges, information
about the arrest warrant for Aguilar, and licensing details from the state Bureau
of Security and Investigative Services, which I retrieved from those entities’
respective websites and an investigator service on July 19 and 21, 2018.

(9) They had given confidential information about the facilities and dispensary to
Razuki, a man under a court order not to engage in any marijuana businesses in
San Diego.

(10) They had told Razuki they would intentionally withhold payments due

under a contract involving the Mira Este Facility, which would cause Mira Este
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Properties, LLC to default on a loan. They indeed withheld payments on the Mira

Este loan for at least two months, accumulating an overdue balance of $317,848.

(11) They failed to implement accounting procedures and failed to present

quarterly reports for periods ending March 2018 and June 2018.

(12) They failed to produce employment/independent contractor agreements,

failed to produce copies of tax returns and EDD filings, failed to produce
financial statements for the Balboa Dispensary, and failed to keep detailed check
registers and accounting journals chronicling Balboa Dispensary’s financial

transactions.

(13) SoCal employee Dan Spillane told employees at the Mira Este Facility

that he was conspiring with Razuki to hijack the three businesses. They would
accomplish this, Spillane said, by filing this very lawsuit and falsely claim that
Razuki owned the businesses. SoCal intended to use Razuki’s false claims of
ownership as an excuse to stop making payments to the businesses’ true owners —
me, Hakim, and our companies. I learned of this scheme from SoCal’s own

employees on July 2™ and 3™, 2018.

(14) The City of San Diego is conducting an audit of the Balboa Dispensary

using a company called MGO. MGO demanded documents that SoCal has failed
to provide, including a business license, copies of written policies governing
security procedures and security guards, the names of the
bookkeeper/accountant/tax preparer, an organizational chart with names of all
employees, a copy of the security guard company’s license, sales details, names
of customers, names of vendors, and other information. A true and correct copy
of a list of documents needed, which was sent to me on July 27, 2018 by MGO

manager Jasmine Costa, is attached to this declaration as Exhibit K. If these

10
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documents are not provided immediately, Balboa Dispensary may lose its license
to operate and the entire business will be destroyed.

28. These acts of malfeasance also violated SoCal’s management contracts (Exhibits H, 1,
and J). For example, Section 2 of the agreement to manage the Balboa Dispensary
requires SoCal to provide services necessary and appropriate for day-to-day
administration and management of the marijuana dispensary and consistent with good
business practices, including hiring competent personnel, complying with state and local
laws, using proper accounting procedures, keeping books and records, and providing
Balboa Ave Cooperative and San Diego United Holdings Group with timely operating
reports on a quarterly basis.

29. I sent notices to SoCal telling them they needed to stop their mismanagement, and
warning them they were jeopardizing the dispensaries’ licenses. I sent them a notice on
June 1, 2018, notifying them of defaults and giving them 25 days to cure. I sent them a
follow-up notice on June 29, 2018, telling them that they were still in default, had not
cured, and failed to pay more than $200,000 they owed under the management contracts.
A true and correct copy of my June 29, 2018 letter is attached as Exhibit M. A true and

correct copy of a letter I sent them on July 3, 2018 is attached to this declaration as

Exhibit G. This was not the first time I notified them of their failures. As early as March

2018, I notified them that they had failed to make payments required by their contracts,
which are defaults under each respective contract. Those defaults went uncured for more
than 25 days.
SoCal is Fired for Incompetence
30. SoCal never improved their services, continued to mismanage the dispensaries, and
continued to fail to make payments due under the contracts. Because of their consistent

mismanagement and failure to improve, I terminated their contracts on July 9, 2018 in

11
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31.

32.

33.

accordance with section 6.2 of each respective contract, which states “This Agreement
may be terminated at the option of the Company upon the failure by [SoCal] to make any
payments as are required herein, and such failure has gone uncured for twenty-five (25)
days....” Section 6.2 also allows me to terminate the contracts if SoCal fails to obtain
“any HOA [or CUP, in the case of Mira Este and Roselle] or other local approvals,” a
provision they triggered by their violation of the HOA settlement, resulting in the HOA
failing to approve the continued operation of Balboa Dispensary.
After terminating their contracts, I banned SoCal from the premises of the Balboa
Dispensary, the Mira Este Facility, and the Roselle Facility on July 10, 2018.
It’s important to note that SoCal does not have and never had a lease for real property at
any of those three locations. SoCal was a contractor, not a tenant, and it never had any
rights as a tenant. They had no right to occupy any real property, only to manage
businesses there.

SoCal Forges a Lease, Lies to Police, Tries to Break into Premises
On July 13, 2018, SoCal’s employee Dan Spillane showed up at Mira Este with a forged
lease purporting to give him access to the building. He was accompanied by another man
who falsely claimed to be the owner of the building, and who said he was in charge of
Sunrise Properties, LLC, a company which Plaintiff claims to own. They tried to gain
access to the building.

(1) The police were called. Spillane and the fake owner tried to convince the police
that they owned the building. The police didn’t buy it. I showed the police my
deed to the building, and they removed Spillane and the other fake owner.

(2) As the police escorted Spillane from the premises, Spillane called out to me,

“Salam says hello!”

12
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34. In his declaration in support of his application for a receiver in this lawsuit, Plaintiff
Razuki said he owns Sunrise Properties, LLC — the same company Spillane pretended to
own when he tried to trick the police into giving him possession of the Mira Este
Facility.

35. In addition, on July 13", Jorge Emilio Aguilar showed up to Mira Este location. Mira
Este employees called the police. Aguilar — who, as shown in Exhibit F, has a warrant
for his arrest — claimed he was the owner of the Mira Este location, holding forged
documents. The police did not believe his forged documents, and he was told to leave.

Plaintiff Razuki’s Attempts to Steal Real Property and Dispensaries

36.  Ilearned in June 2018 that Plaintiff Razuki had falsely told SoCal Building
Ventures, LLC that he owned some interest in the Balboa Properties, the Balboa Dispensary,
and other businesses and properties he does not actually own. Because Razuki refused to stop
telling people he owned the properties, San Diego United was forced to file an action to quiet
title against Razuki and Razuki Investments, LLC. The action was filed as a cross-complaint in
one of several pending lawsuits involving Razuki’s various frauds. A true and correct copy of
the cross-complaint, verified under penalty of perjury by me, is attached to this complaint as
Exhibit L. We filed this in June 2018 to prevent Razuki from contesting title to the properties.

Plaintiff Obtains Receiver without Notice to Me or My Businesses

37.  Ihave not been served with a copy of the summons and complaint in this lawsuit.
None of the businesses in which I have an ownership interest have been served with the
summons and complaint either. None of the businesses I manage have been served with the
summons and complaint. None of these entities were served with Plaintiff’s ex parte application
for a receiver, or given notice of the ex parte hearing at which the receiver was appointed, or

served with a copy of the order appointing the receiver.
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38.  Gina Austin and Tamara Leetham are not authorized to accept service of process

of the summons, complaint, or Plaintiff’s ex parte application on behalf of any of the named

defendants in this action, including myself.

39.

40.

41.

42.

43.

44,

45.

46.

Plaintiff’s Gunman Invades Balboa Dispensary
On July 17, 2018, Plaintiff sent a gunman to seize control of the Balboa Dispensary.
On that date, James Holler (employee of SoCal), a man with a gun who I did not
recognize, Steven Davis (another employee of SoCal), another 4-5 employees of SoCal,
and the receiver, Mr. Essay, showed up at the Balboa Dispensary and loitered in the
parking lot.
The gunman had a visible hand gun in a holster at his side, resting one hand on it.
I phoned the police when I saw the gunman and the other employees. When the police
arrived, | ran outside to meet them. Plaintiff’s gunmen and the other trespassers fled.
The police spoke with me for about 30 minutes. They said to call them if the trespassers
returned.
I went back inside. Plaintiff’s gunman and the trespassers did not return immediately, so [
left the Balboa Dispensary in the capable hands of Golden State Greens, a competent
management company I hired to replace SoCal.
Later that day, the gunman, James Holler, and the other employees returned to Balboa
Dispensary and surrounded the building. I personally observed them remotely by
watching live video footage streaming from the security cameras at the Balboa
Dispensary. The men pounded on the front door, and I heard James Holler shout “Open
the fucking door!”
Plaintiff’s men then broke down the door and invaded the building. The dispensary
employees, fearing for their lives, retreated to a more secure room inside the dispensary

with its own separately locked door. I spoke with the employees on the phone as SoCal’s
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employees and the gunman continued their rampage through the building, and watched in
horror on the security cameras as they stole computers and other equipment, carrying it

right out of the building. Here is a photo of them stealing a computer:
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47.

48.

The employees in the secure room phoned Gina Austin, an attorney, who offered to help
them escape from the gunman. She drove to the premises and parked outside. The
employees watched on the security cameras, waiting for the gunman and Plaintiff’s
trespassers to move away from the back exit. When they did, the employees ran out to
Gina’s waiting car and drove away.

According to Plaintiff’s ex parte application, the receiver intends to put SoCal back in
charge of the Balboa Dispensary, which shows extraordinarily poor judgment on the
receiver’s part. As explained in this declaration, SoCal was fired for mismanagement.
They continue to mismanage the Balboa Dispensary today; for example, they did not
have security guards posted outside during business hours on July 27, 2018, a violation of]
the San Diego City Code, as shown by these photographs taken on July 27, 2018 during

business hours:
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Errors in the Receivership

49.  Itis clear to me, from my several years of running companies like these, that the
receiver does not know what he is doing and has never managed a business of this type. He
hired an incompetent management company, SoCal, without performing even a modicum of due
diligence; on the contrary, within 24 hours of getting the receiver order, he had re-hired SoCal.
He stormed the Balboa Dispensary with an armed gunman and broke down its door — hurting the
business and destroying its property, not preserving it. He let SoCal steal a computer without
even turning it on to see what was on it.

50.  The receiver order put Mira Este and Roselle into receivership for no reason.
There are no active dispensaries at those locations. The Roselle Facility has a completely
unrelated tenant inside of it.

51.  The Balboa and Mira Este locations have hearings coming up in early August in
front of local government officials that I need to attend. I cannot attend those hearings if |
cannot represent the businesses. If [ do not attend those hearings, Balboa Dispensary will lose its
conditional use permit and its license, and the Mira Este Facility will never open. Two
businesses will be destroyed if the receiver stays in place, because the receiver has no idea what
he is doing, and SoCal — an incompetent company whose employees drink alcohol and smoke
stolen marijuana on the job — cannot help him.

52.  The HOA will revoke the use variance if SoCal continues to operate the Balboa
Dispensary. This will destroy the Balboa business.

53.  These businesses are fragile. Rather than preserving the status quo, the
receivership order severely disrupted it by reinstating a management company that had been
fired for incompetence and fraud. Razuki has no ownership interest in any of the companies who
run the businesses, as shown by the documents attached to this declaration. He has no right to

ask for control of any of the businesses, and because | am managing the businesses effectively
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Richardson C. Griswold, Esq. (CA Bar No. 2468
GRISWOLD LAW, APC

444 S. Cedros Avenue, Suite 250

Solana Beach, California 92075

Phone: (858) 481-1300

Fax: (888) 624-9177

Attorney For
Court-Appointed Receiver Michael Essary

37)

SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA
FOR THE COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO

SALAM RAZUKI, an individual,
Plaintiff,
v.

NINUS MALAN, an individual; CHRIS
HAKIM, an individual; MONARCH
MANAGEMENT CONSULTING, INC. a
California corporation; SAN DIEGO UNITED
HOLDING GROUP, LLC, a California limited
liability company; FLIP MANAGEMENT,
LLC, a California limited liability company;
MIRA ESTE PROPERTIES, LLC, a California
limited liability company; ROSELLE
PROPERTIES, LLC, , a California limited
liability company; BALBOA AVE
COOPERATIVE, a California nonprofit mutual
benefit corporation; CALIFORNIA CANNABIS
GROUP, a California nonprofit mutual benefit
corporation; DEVILISH DELIGHTS, INC., a
California nonprofit mutual benefit corporation;
and DOES 1-100, inclusive,

Defendants.

CASE NO.: 37-2018-00034229-CU-BC-CTL

DECLARATION OF COURT APPOINTED
RECEIVER MICHAEL ESSARY IN
SUPPORT OF EX PARTE APPLICATION
FOR ORDER AUTHORIZING RECEIVER
TO EMPLOY COUNSEL

Hon. Richard E.L. Strauss
C-75

July 31,2018

9:00 a.m.

Judge:
Dept:
Date:
Time:

DECLARATION OF RECEIVER MICHAEL ESSARY

I, MICHAEL ESSARY, hereby declare as follows:

1. I am the Court-Appointed Receiver in the above-captioned matter (“Action”). I

have personal knowledge of the matters set forth herein, and if called upon as a witness, I could

and would testify competently thereto.

-1-
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2. On July 17, 2018, the Court appointed me as the Receiver in this Action. Pursuant
to the Appointment Order (“Order”), I was ordered to take possession and control of all assets of
the Marijuana Operations.  After filing my bond and oath with the Court on July 17, 2018, I met
with Plaintiff’s counsel Mr. Elia at his office in Mission Valley to gather information about the
entities listed on Page 2 of the Order; addresses, names of principals, contact numbers (if any), bank
account information, etc.

3. While at Mr. Elia’s office, my office texted me with a message from Ms. Gina
Austin and a return call number. I immediately called Ms. Austin and told her of my intentions to
enter and take control of the dispensary at 8869-E Balboa Avenue, San Diego that afternoon. Ms.
Austin stated that the Order was not valid and that she would not follow the Order. She also stated
that she would advise her clients to resist my attempts to locate and takeover assets and not to
follow the Order.

4, I went to the dispensary at Balboa to effectuate the Order. However, the
occupants/employees did not allow me access to the building to discuss the court’s Order and its
requirements. They instead locked themselves in the offices with the safes and security cameras,
loaded up all the cash they could find, and then ran out the back door while I was at the front of the
building. Myself and a security guard on site personally witnessed Ms. Austin in her vehicle drive
around the building and leave with the employees and bags they were carrying. The guard also
took a picture of Ms. Austin’s license plate.

5. Two women and one man fled the building and were met in the alley by Ms. Austin
in her vehicle; they jumped in her car with the bags from the office and she drove them all away.
The dispensary’s employees later returned when we were inside to take their personal vehicles
with them.

6. I verified all of these actions by reviewing the extensive security camera recordings
of their actions inside and outside of the building.

7. In connection with my receivership, and to ensure that all local and state marijuana
laws are complied with respect to the Marijuana Operations, I submitted formal notification of the

-
DECLARATION OF MICHAEL ESSARY
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DECLARATION OF MICHAEL ESSARY

I, MICHAEL ESSARY, hereby declare as follows:

1. I am the Court-Appointed Receiver in the case entitled Razuki v. Malan, et al., which is
also known as San Diego Superior Court Case No. 37-2018-00034229 (the
Action”). I have personal knowledge of the matters set forth herein and, if called as a witness, I could
and would testify competently thereto.

2. I make this Declaration in response to certain allegations made in Defendant Ninus
Malan’s Ex Parte Application to Vacate Receivership Order (“Malan’s Ex Parte Application), which
was submitted to the Court on or about July 30, 2018.

3. I was appointed as receiver in this Action on July 17, 2018 pursuant to the Court’s Order
Appointing Receiver (the “Appointment Order”’) which was executed by Judge Medel on that day. 1
filed my bond and oath on July 17, 2018. The Appointment Order authorized me to take possession
and control of certain businesses, as well as their assets and real property including, but not limited to,
several legal marijuana related businesses which I shall refer to herein as the “Marijuana Operations.”

4. The Marijuana Operations subject to the Appointment Order included a legal marijuana
dispensary located at 8861 Balboa Avenue, Suite B and 8863 Balboa Avenue, Suite E, San Diego, CA
92123 (collectively referred to as the “Balboa Dispensary”). As stated in my previous Declaration dated
July 30, 2018, upon notifying Gina Austin, Esq., counsel for Defendant Ninus Malan (“Malan”), on
July 17, 2018, that I would immediately be taking over possession and control of the Balboa Dispensary,
she stated that she would not be following the Appointment Order and she would furthermore advise
her clients to do the same. Thereafter, [ went to the Balboa Dispensary and ultimately took possession
and control of the property and business pursuant to the Appointment Order.

5. In Malan’s Ex Parte Application stated the following allegations, which I believe to false

and/or misleading:

(a) That there was a man with me brandishing a gun at the Balboa Dispensary (see
Malan’s Ex Parte Application at 3:18-19 and 7:16-18);

(b) That the man brandishing the gun at the Balboa Dispensary “brought” me along
(Id. at 3:19-21);

1
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() That the gunmen “falsely claimed to be a cop” (/d. at 3:19-20);

(d) That when police arrived, rather than speak with the police, I retreated to an
alleyway with “Plaintiff’s gunmen” (/d. at 3:25-27);

(e) That “[a]fter the police left, Plaintiff’s gunmen came back, pounded on the front
door and demanded that Balboa’s employees vacate the building” (/d. at 4:1-2
and 7:16-18);

) That “Plaintiff’s gunmen broke down the front door and invaded the dispensary”
(Id. at 4:2-3 and 7:16-18);

(2) That after “terrified employees ran to a secure room, then fled the building
through a back exit as Plaintiff’s gunmen ran after them” (/d. at 4:3-4 and 7:16-
18);

(h) That I, in concert with employees of Plaintiff-In-Intervention SoCal Building
Ventures, LLC (“SoCal Building”), stole computers after my takeover of the
Balboa Dispensary (/d. at 4:5-6 and 7:16-18);

(1) That my takeover of assets of the Balboa Dispensary, including computers
located in the business, constituted a “robbery” (/d. at 19-21); and,

() That my attempt to comply with the Appointment Order was a “hostile takeover”
of the Balboa Dispensary (/d. at 19-21).

6. Malan’s Allegations Regarding the “Gunmen”. There were three security guards

present at the Balboa Dispensary when I arrived on July 17, 2018 who offered me assistance in taking
possession and control of the property and business. I am informed and believe that one was hired by
Plaintiff Salam Razuki to ensure a safe transition to the receivership and was employed by a company
known as Archstone; it is my understanding that the other security guards are employed by Edward
Security, the same security company that was contracted to work at the Balboa Dispensary prior to my
takeover. None of these security guards “brought me along,” and all three were present at the Balboa
Dispensary when I arrived there on July 17, 2018.

Furthermore, I am informed and believe that all of these security guards are, and were, licensed
to carry open firearms. No guns were ever unholstered during my presence at the Balboa Dispensary
on July 17, 2018.

I never heard any of the the security guards claim to be a police officer in my presence.

2
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In my opinion, there was never any threat of violence during my takeover of possession and
control of the Balboa Dispensary on July 17, 2018.

7. Malan’s Allegation That I Retreated to An Alleyway With Plaintiff’s “Gunmen”
After the Police Arrived. Although I am informed and believe that police officers did visit the Balboa

Dispensary earlier in the day on July 17, 2018, there was never any police presence while I was at the
Balboa Dispensary on that day and, therefore, I could not have retreated into the alleyway with the
security guards that were present.

8. Malan’s Allegation That Plaintiff’s “Gunmen” Pounded on the Front Door

Demanding That Balboa’s Employees Vacate the Building After Police Left. As mentioned above,

when [ arrived at the Balboa Dispensary on July 17, 2018, there were three security guards present. [
am informed and believe that one of the security guards is an employee of Archstone and was hired by
Plaintiff Salam Razuki to ensure everyone’s safety during my takeover of possession and control of the
Balboa Dispensary and the other security guards worked for Edward Security, the same security
company to work at the location prior to my appointment as receiver. Also present at the Balboa
Dispensary was James Holler, an employee of SoCal Building. While I initially knocked on the door,
we did eventually knock louder as the persons inside the business had locked the doors and were
refusing to open the doors despite my multiple requests to do so pursuant to the Appointment Order.
None of the armed security guards ever knocked or pounded on the door.

9. Malan’s Allegation That Plaintiff’s “Gunmen” Broke Down the Front Door and

Invaded the Dispensary. Neither I, nor any person who was at the Balboa Dispensary on July 17,2018

when [ took possession and control of the property and business, broke down any door. After having
been locked out by the persons inside the Balboa Dispensary when I arrived, I was able to gain access
to the business when those persons ran out to the vehicle which I am informed and believe was driven
by Malan’s attorney, Gina Austin, and left the back door to the office wide open.

10. Malan’s Allegation That Plaintiff’s “Gunmen” Ran After Terrified Emplovees

After They Fled. Neither I, nor the other persons employed by either Plaintiff, SoCal Building, Edward

Security or Archstone, ever ran after the employees who fled the Balboa Dispensary when I attempted

3
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SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA,
COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO

CENTRAL
MINUTE ORDER

DATE: 07/31/2018 TIME: 09:00:00 AM DEPT: C-75

JUDICIAL OFFICER PRESIDING: Richard E. L. Strauss
CLERK: Blanca Delgado

REPORTER/ERM: Paula Rahn CSR# 11510
BAILIFF/COURT ATTENDANT: Paul Darvin

CASE NO: 37-2018-00034229-CU-BC-CTL CASE INIT.DATE: 07/10/2018
CASE TITLE: Razuki vs Malan [IMAGED]
CASE CATEGORY: Civil - Unlimited CASE TYPE: Breach of Contract/Warranty

EVENT TYPE: Ex Parte

EVENT TYPE: Ex Parte

APPEARANCES

Steven A Elia, counsel, present for Plaintiff(s).

James Joseph, counsel, present for Plaintiff(s).

Gina M Austin, counsel, present for Defendant(s).

Daniel Watts, specially appearing for Ninus Malan, Defendant.

Tamara M. Leetham, specially appearing for Monarch Management Consulting Inc, Defendant.
Tamara M. Leetham, specially appearing for Mira Este Properties LLC, Defendant.

Tamara M. Leetham, specially appearing for Roselle Properties LLC, Defendant.

Richardson Griswold, counsel, specially appearing for Receiver.

Michael Essary, Receiver, present.

Salvatore J. Zimmitti, counsel, specially appearing for Zachary E. Rothenberg, present for Plaintiff
Miles D. Grant, counsel, present for Plaintiff(s)

THIS BEING THE TIME SET FOR HEARING ON 1.A. DEFENDANT'S EX PARTE APPLICATION TO
VACATE RECEIVERSHIP ORDER; 1.B. EX PARTE APPLICATION OF MICHAEL ESSARY, IN HIS
CAPACITY AS COURT APPOINTED RECEIVER, FOR ORDER AUTHORIZING RECEIVER TO
EMPLOY COUNSEL,; 2. PLAINTIFF SALAM RAZUKI'S EX PARTE APPLICATION FOR AN ORDER
RESETTING OSC RE CONFIRMATION OF APPOINTMENT OF RECEIVER AND PRELIMINARY
INJUNCTION AND ORDER TO RUSH FILE PLAINTIFF'S FAC,

The Court, having read the moving papers filed, now hears argument from counsel.

DATE: 07/31/2018 MINUTE ORDER Page 1
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CASE TITLE: Razuki vs Malan [IMAGED] CASE NO: 37-2018-00034229-CU-BC-CTL

Following lengthy discussions, as more fully set forth in the court reporter's notes, the Court GRANTS
the request to vacate the receivership order (Re: 1.A.).

Counsel to prepare a proposed order for the Court's review and approval.

The Court GRANTS Michael Essary's ex parte request authorizing Receiver to employ counsel; counsel
is entitled to be compensated for his services.(Re: 1.B.).

As to all other matters; the Court instructs counsel to proceed via a noticed motion for remedies being
sought.

Judge Richard E. L. Strauss

DATE: 07/31/2018 MINUTE ORDER Page 2
DEPT: C-75 Calendar No. 2
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DECLARATION OF JAMES HOLLER

I, James Holler, declare as follows:

1. I am an individual and former Manager of the dispensary known as the Tree
House Balboa Facility (“Balboa Facility”). I make this declaration in support of Plaintift-in-
Intervention SoCal Building Ventures, LLC’s (“SoCal”) Supplemental Opposition to Ex Parte
Application to Vacate Receivership Order. I have personal knowledge of the facts set forth
herein, and if called upon to testify thereto, I could and would competently do so under oath.

2. I was hired by SoCal to manage the Balboa Facility, along with Chris Patel. I held
this position from early December 2017 until July 2018, at which point a new management
company was installed by Ninus Malan and his associates.

3. When Mr. Patel and I took over management, we were immediately struck by the
enormous amount of waste and clutter and a lot of unsellable product. This product was not
handled properly and allowed to deteriorate, rather than storing it in a manner that could have
preserved it.

4. I also noticed that there was not much of a client base and, generally speaking, the
dispensary’s buying decisions appeared very ill-informed. One of the first things we did when
we got there was to start instituting our own brands and products we were familiar with, and then
increased our presence by putting up an actual Weedmaps page, getting on social media, building
a website, getting business cards for the business, and doing other basic things that would be
expected from any reputable dispensary. As a result of these efforts alone we saw a nice
turnaround of the business in the first few months.

5. Upon taking over the Balboa Facility, we also started cleaning up the entire
operation. We picked up brands that we knew had a better reputation and obtained higher quality
flower and concentrates. We made sure that security was in place and guards were doing patrols,
no one was smoking on site, and kept an eye on our comprehensive grid surveillance system
which had coverage of the whole perimeter. We also instituted just a better sales atmosphere.
Our goal was to become the friendly neighborhood spot where you get to know your clients. This

worked because our revenue jumped compared to the very little business the dispensary was
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doing when we took over.

6. Mr. Malan and his attorney Gina Austin functioned as the interface between the
Balboa Facility and the City for the purposes of licensing, audits, and compliance issues. SoCal
was not responsible for providing information to auditors and I understood that Mr. Malan and
Ms. Austin were in charge of that.

7. One day in March or April 2018, Mr. Malan decided to install signage including
electricity, both outside around the perimeter of the property and along our immediate parking
area. I very specifically remember asking him, “Did we get permits for these?”, to which he
responded: “Yeah absolutely no problem.” Assuring me that we had gotten approvals, I did not
consider it further. However, we got a visit several weeks later from a City Official who
informed me that the signs were not permitted and somebody had lodged a complaint. [ was
surprised because Mr. Malan had assured me that we had in fact received the permits for those. I
called Mr. Malan and he informed me that, no, we did not in fact have these permits.

8. There has never any smoking of marijuana or drinking of alcohol at Balboa
during SoCal’s management. Two security Guards are regularly posted, once SoCal took control.
Other than the signage and electrical issues which were caused by Mr. Malan, I am not aware of
any code violation issues.

9. I am also unaware of any issues or complaints with the HOA. I have always made
cash payments to the HOA pursuant to the settlement agreement; however, I cannot be sure that
Mr. Malan did not hold them or prevent them from getting to the HOA. There is a man named
Daniel Burakowski who I understand is affiliated with the HOA, we would exchange
pleasantries from time to time. Mr. Burakowski never complained about anything to me.

10. On the morning of July 10, 2018, I received a called from Steven Davis,
Assistant Manager at Balboa. He reported to me that the locks had been changed, and security on
site instructed him that Mr. Malan ordered for no one to be allowed inside. I drove to the
dispensary, where Steven and the onsite security were waiting. Steven informed me that while he
was locking up the previous night on July 9, 2018, Mr. Malan approached him and asked for his

key. He obliged, and found the locks changed the following morning. On the morning of the 10™,
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I noticed that the password for camera access had been changed, and Diana De La Mora
discovered that access to our Point of Sale Software called “Treez” had been blocked as well.
Later that day, I received a notification from an app on my phone that controls the alarm that
someone was inside the building and had used Steven’s access code. I drove to the dispensary
and found Mr. Malan there, where I inquired as to his motivations and whether or not I still was
employed. He was unclear in his response, citing reasons like "it's more complicated than I can
explain”" and "it was never my intention to fuck you over."

11. Mr. Malan insisted was unclear on my employment status. When we ended our
conversation he told me to call him in the morning. On the morning of July 11, 2018, I arrived at
the dispensary as I normally would for my shift. There I found Steven and a number of people he
informed me were a part of another dispensary called Golden State Greens, who were attempting
to gain access to Treez. Steven and I spoke at length regarding his role in assisting with the
takeover. He told me all he had done was give Mr. Malan his key and alarm code, and that he
received a call on the 10th instructing him to be at the dispensary at 7:30 the morning of the 11th.
We had learned that Stevens credentials had been used to request back end data reports, and
when I questioned Steven regarding this he insisted had taken no part in that act. He reached out
to Mr. Malan, who told him "they" had used his credentials, implicating the new staff members.
Per his request, I then reached out to Mr. Malan at first using my own phone and discovered my
number had been blocked. Steven loaned me his phone to call Mr. Malan, who, when I finally
contacted him, still refused to give me a clear answer as to my employment status or the status of
the management agreement between him and SoCal. I reached out to Alexandra Clarke and
Maria Ortega, who are employed as sales associates and were scheduled to work that day and
also very close to Mr. Malan. I told them there were some issues at the shop and that they could
have the day off, but they already knew more than I did. They informed me that Mr. Malan had
instructed them to come to the dispensary the afternoon of the 10th, where they were instructed
to take inventory and be introduced to "New management”. | received a call from Alexandra on
the afternoon of the 11th, who had visited the dispensary to collect her tips from the previous

week and inform the staff there that she would not be working that day. She informed me that
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there were people inside the dispensary painting the interior, and that a sign had been placed in
front of the building that read "Golden State Balboa."

12. I was present at the Balboa Facility on July 17, 2018 when the court-appointed
receiver, Michael Essary, attempted to take control of the Balboa Facility. I knew Mr. Essary
was going to the Balboa Facility with the order because I had gone to the San Diego Central
Courthouse and witnessed the court hearing in the morning where receivership was granted to
Mr. Essary. I also met at the courthouse Mr. Malan’s attorney, Gina Davis, who I've met before
when she handled an audit between the City and the facility. So we were familiar and would say
even friendly at that time. She said Hello to me in the courtroom that day.

13. After the hearing, I reported to the Balboa Facility and was met by a security
guard from Archstone named Jose Mora sometime between 10 and 11 a.m. or so. The San Diego
police arrived soon after, about four squad cars and eight police officers. Some were talking to
me and Mr. Mora, and others were talking to Ms. Austin and Mr. Malan who were also there. I
did not have a copy of the court order but Ms. Austin appeared to show it to the police and
explained the reason I was there and what I was doing there. The police explained to us that we
were allowed to be there and wait for the receiver as long as we did not do anything in the
meantime, and they left.

14.  While this was going on, Mr. Malan yelled and shouted at me saying, among
other things, “I hope you packed your bags, you....” Ms. Austin eventually motioned to him and
they both went inside. Mr. Malan left shortly after that. He departed quickly. I remained outside
with Mr. Mora and we were joined later by my Assistant Manager Steven Davis.

15. We waited for Mr. Essary and watched, one by one, the employees of Golden
State Greens leaving the facility. All the employees that left and came by us were very cordial
and polite, very friendly with us. Mr. Essary arrived around somewhere between 2:30 to 3:00
p-m. When he arrived we joined him in knocking on the front door to inform them that the court
order had been served and that they were required to vacate the building. He explained this to a
female security guard, Marisa Kimber, who answered the door and relayed back the message.

This was answered by a female voice who said “shut the door.” Mr. Essary informed Ms.
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Kimber that refusing to permit entry is contempt of the court order and that he would suggest
that she vacate and she did - she called a ride and she left. The other guard that was still there
relayed Mr. Essary’s message again and once again was met with the same voice saying “lock
the door.” Mr. Essary repeated his message and shouted back so the people further back could
hear him. He shouted back his orders very clearly and politely, and they were met once more
with “lock the door.”

16.  Mr. Essary and I went around the back door, because we believed the occupants
to be in the back office. We knocked on the back door several times loudly and relayed the
message loudly so anyone can hear, but there was no response whatsoever. I remember distinctly
the whole time hearing the safes opening and rustling the whole time and things like “hand the
money,” which I understood meant that they were getting the money together. We then walked
back around to the front. At this point, we are not trying to force our way in. We were giving
them every chance to just come out so we did not have to just go in there.

17. They never came out. I should add that throughout the day Gina Davis had been
coming and going in a bronze Range Rover. I say this because we briefly left the back door for a
moment and during that time Mr. Mora notices movement and went to see what's going on. He
runs back there and then we see the occupants are fleeing the building towards the bronze Range
Rover. They all hop in the Range Rover and a blond woman is carrying a black or blue trash can.
They then speed around the corner almost hitting Mr. Mora on the way out as he gets a picture of
the license plate. [ saw very clearly it was Ms. Austin driving this car.

18.  They speed off and they left the back door to the office wide open and so we went
inside the dispensary. We did a quick overview. It seemed like none of the product had been
touched but all of the safes were empty. The camera system was also unlocked, and we just
rewound it and watched everything that had just occurred. We watched them get the money
together put it in that trash can and take off. The entire time we can see they are frantic and
pacing on the phone and keeping a very close eye on us on the camera grid. Attached as Exhibit
A is a true and correct copy of a series of screenshots of this video showing them gathering the

money and escaping into Ms. Austin’s Range Rover.
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